

Minireview Article

Diet and Cardiovascular Disease: Valvular Heart Disease, Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm, Carotid Artery Disease, Congenital Heart Disease, and Heart Transplant Related Cardiac Problems

Abstract

This manuscript reviews the role of diet in five less common cardiovascular disorders (CVDs) namely, valvular disease, abdominal aortic aneurysm, carotid artery disease, congenital heart disease, and transplanted hearts. Valvular aortic stenosis is the most common valvular heart disease in the West. The 2-year mortality is almost 50% in untreated patients with symptomatic severe aortic valve stenosis. Unfortunately, there is no available pharmacological treatment to halt the disease progression. It is usually treated by open heart or transcatheter aortic valve replacement. Abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA) is diagnosed when the aorta diameter exceeds 3 cm or increases by more than 50% compared with normal. AAA is estimated to occur in about 8% of males over the age of 65. An effective therapeutic strategy to halt or reverse the disease progression is lacking. Surgical repair is required when the maximum diameter reaches 50–55 mm. Patients with atherosclerotic diseases, including carotid artery disease, have a high long-term all-cause and cardiac-related mortality. An increase in carotid intima-media thickness (CCA-IMT) is usually the first measurable sign of atherosclerosis progression. Carotid ultrasound measurements are considered the method of choice to gauge IMT progression and subclinical atherosclerosis. Congenital heart diseases (CoHDs) are the most common defects presenting at birth, defined as abnormal development of the heart and great vessels. Heart transplantation patients face multiple factors, including the effects of prolonged debilitation prior to surgery and immunosuppression. Several studies have investigated the role of diet in these infrequently seen CVDs. The available data are reviewed in this manuscript.

Keywords: diet, cardiovascular disease, valvular heart disease, congenital heart disease, aortic aneurysm, heart transplantation

Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is a major cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide^[1]. It is estimated that 17.9 million deaths worldwide due to CVDs in 2019 (mostly premature or under the age of 70). Most of these occurred in low- to middle-income countries, indicating that non-communicable CVDs are no longer a disease of the West. The underlying cause has been the increasing spread of the Western diet and lifestyle to these countries. Overall, CVD related deaths represented 32% of all global deaths. The bulk of these CVDs are related to the development and progression of atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis results from a diseased endothelium, low-grade inflammation, monocyte recruitment, macrophage formation, lipid accumulation, and the development of plaque within the intima layer of the arteries. As they grow, they encroach on the inner lumen of the artery and start impeding blood flow. They may further erode or rupture, resulting in platelet activation, superimposed thrombosis, and rapid

Comment [S1]: Minireview is too long, it should provide a brief summary in a manner understandable to all readers

Comment [S2]: In the text, citations should be indicated by the reference number in brackets according to rules of the journal. So please change it to [1]

Comment [S3]: Please change it to encroach

vessel occlusion. The clinical manifestations of arterial blockage are myocardial infarction or an ischemic stroke¹. Atherosclerosis also plays a role in the morbidity and mortality associated with other major CVDs, namely heart failure, cardiac arrhythmias, peripheral vascular disease and vasculogenic erectile dysfunction.

Many known risk factors for CVD and atherosclerosis are modifiable, including tobacco use, excess alcohol consumption, physical inactivity, and an unhealthy diet². A healthy diet mitigates against the development and progression of atherosclerosis³. Although coronary artery disease, stroke, heart failure, cardiac arrhythmias, peripheral artery disease are the major causes of CVD morbidity and mortality and receive the most attention, certain less common CVDs are also affected by lifestyle changes. This manuscript looks at the influence of diet on valvular heart disease, abdominal aortic aneurysm, carotid artery disease, congenital heart disease, and transplanted hearts.

Discussion

Diet plays an important role in the genesis and progression of CVDs. A diet that is high in calories and is not matched by equivalent expenditure via physical activity results in weight gain. A BMI $>30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ (or $>27.5 \text{ kg/m}^2$ in Asians) is considered obese⁴. Obesity, and especially abdominal obesity is harmful to the cardiovascular system. Abdominal obesity can be diagnosed by a WC $>102 \text{ cm}$ in males and $>88 \text{ cm}$ in females, a waist hip ratio >0.85 in women and >0.9 in men, or a waist-height ratio >0.5 in either male or female⁵. Central or visceral obesity (abdominal obesity) may exist even if the BMI is normal. The adipose tissue is a highly active organ, which influences metabolism, neuro-endocrine activity, systemic inflammation, and immunity⁶. Besides the number of calories consumed, the quality of diet is also extremely important. A Western diet is cardiovascular unhealthy. It is rich in red meat - both processed and unprocessed, saturated fats, ultra-processed foods, refined carbohydrates, fast foods, and sugar-sweetened beverages. It is low in fruits and vegetables and is lacking in fiber, vitamins, and minerals⁷. On the other hand, diets such as the Mediterranean diet (MedD), Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet, and the vegetarian diet are primarily plant-based and are CVD friendly⁸. Several systematic reviews, meta-analyses of prospective cohort studies, and large individual cohort studies have shown a significant reduction in CVDs with these diets⁹⁻¹¹. The MedD is characterized by a high intake of fruits, vegetables, legumes, wholegrain products, fish, and unsaturated fatty acids (especially olive oil); low to moderate consumption of alcohol (mostly wine, preferably consumed with meals) and low consumption of (red) meat, dairy products, and saturated fatty acids. Several studies have shown the MedD results in a 28%-31% reduction in major vascular events⁹. The DASH eating plan was primarily introduced to reduce hypertension due to its sodium restriction¹⁰. It is however, also rich in fruits, vegetables, whole grains, legumes, and nuts, moderate in low-fat dairy, seafood, skinless poultry, low to moderate in alcohol (for adults), low in red and processed meats, saturated fats, refined grains, and sugar-sweetened foods and beverages¹¹. The Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension diet is associated with a 20% reduction in CVD and a 21% reduction in coronary heart disease (CHD) incidence¹². Vegetarian diets are of numerous types: lacto-vegetarian, ovo-vegetarian, lacto-ovo-vegetarian, vegan, etc. They usually avoid animal products (meat, fish, poultry, eggs, or dairy)

Comment [S4]: Please change it to Body Mass Index (BMI)

Comment [S5]: Please change it to Waist circumference (WC)

Comment [S6]: Please change it to highly active metabolic and endocrine organ

Comment [S7]: Please change it to [9-11]

Comment [S8]: Please change it to DASH

and contain large amounts of fruits, vegetables, whole-grain cereals, legumes/beans, and nuts. Vegetarian diets are associated with a 29% reduction in CVD and a 22% reduction in CHD mortality¹³. Plant-based diets are rich in cardiovascular beneficial ingredients, such as phytochemicals, fibers, folic acid, potassium, magnesium, vitamin E, vitamin C, and carotenoids. Intake of dark chocolate intake, tea, and coffee also impacts CVDs. The role of these dietary patterns in the less frequently encountered CVDs is the topic of this discussion.

Comment [S9]: delete it

Valvular heart disease

There are several causes of diseased cardiac valves. Rheumatic heart disease (because of beta-hemolytic streptococcal infection of the pharynx) has been a major cause of valvular damage but is gradually decreasing all over the world¹⁴. Regurgitant lesions are often seen as complications of coronary artery disease (CAD) or heart failure¹⁵⁻¹⁸. This discussion will focus on stenotic aortic valvular disease, as it is often independent of other cardiovascular problems. Aortic valve stenosis (AVS) is the most common acquired valvular heart disease in the United States and western industrialized countries^{19,20}. It is commonly caused by degenerative valve calcification. Bicuspid aortic valve disease is often responsible – it is a congenital anomaly and about 50% of these develop leaflet thickening and fibro-calcific disease of the aortic valve²¹. Valvular stenosis causes gradual obstruction of blood flow from the left ventricle to the aorta, and this results in symptoms²⁰. The 2-year mortality is almost 50% in untreated patients with symptomatic severe AVS^{22,23}. There is no available pharmacological treatment to inhibit the disease progression. Aortic valve stenosis is commonly treated by open heart or transcatheter aortic valve replacement²⁴. These procedures are associated with a high risk of adverse events and substantial healthcare costs²⁵. Several dietary interventions have been suggested for preventing or slowing the progression of aortic valvular disease²⁶⁻³⁰. Some researchers have suggested that a low-fat diet²⁶, a blood pressure-lowering diet²⁷, or a diet rich in fruits, vegetables, olive oil, and fish²⁸⁻³⁰ appears to thwart the development of calcific aortic stenosis. However, Larsson found no objective association between dietary ingredients or special diets and calcific aortic stenosis³¹. Accelerated AVS does occur in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM)³². Its presence is associated with a poor prognosis in these patients³³. Diabetics also demonstrate a faster degeneration of implanted bioprosthetic aortic valves³⁴. Dietary control of T2DM may therefore help in slowing down this progressive damage, both in the native diseased valves and in the implanted bioprosthetic valves³⁵.

Comment [S10]: Please change it to Larsson et al.

Comment [S11]: I prefer to separate it into new paragraph

Some studies have found that coffee and alcohol intake may influence the incidence of AVS. In a prospective study of 71,178 men and women (mean follow-up of 15.2 years) Larsson et al. found that the multivariable hazard ratios were 1.11 per 2 cups/day increase of coffee consumption and 1.65 when comparing the highest (≥ 6 cups/day) with the lowest (< 0.5 cup/day) category of coffee consumption³⁶. Alcohol appears to have the opposite effect. In another study, Larsson et al. followed 1,249 cases for up to 15.3 hours, found that compared with never drinkers of alcohol, the risk of AVS was significantly lower in current light drinkers (1-6 drinks per week) with a multivariable HR=0.82³⁷.

Comment [S12]: Please change it to hazard ratios (HR)

Many weight reducing drugs have been associated with calcific aortic stenosis, the most significant connection has been with appetite suppressant drugs fenfluramine-phentermine (fen-

phen) and dexfenfluramine (up to 23% of cases)³⁸. Fortunately, most cases of appetite suppressant-related valve disease were mild or moderate and rarely required valve repair or replacement³⁹. Follow-up studies have suggested improvement in valvopathy after discontinuation of the treatment⁴⁰. These drugs have been withdrawn from the US market. Their mechanism of causing harm has, however, never been clearly determined⁴¹.

Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm

Abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA) is diagnosed when the aortic diameter exceeds 3 cm or increases by more than 50% compared with normal^{42,43}. AAA is estimated to occur in about 8% of males over the age of 65^{44,45}. An effective non-operative therapeutic strategy to halt or reverse the disease progression is lacking^{46,47}. Surgical repair is required when the maximum diameter reaches 50–55 mm^{48,49}. However, the mortality of patients undergoing repair surgery is extremely high and exceeds 50%⁵⁰. Unoperated, the mortality from ruptured aneurysms is also very high and can exceed 80%^{51,52}. Inflammatory processes and oxidative stress play a major role^{53–55}. They bring about protease-mediated degradation of the extracellular matrix and apoptosis of smooth muscle cells in the vascular wall, resulting in AAA⁵⁶. Several studies have looked at the dietary impact on AAA^{57,58}. Most studies have found that plant-based diets and omega 3 fatty acids appear to have a protective effect⁵⁹. A retrospective cross-sectional cohort study conducted in the United States, comprising over 3 million individuals, showed that high consumption of fruits, vegetables, and nuts decreased the risk of AAA⁶⁰. Stackelberg et al. in a Swedish cohort study, (80,446 individuals with 1,086 cases of incident AAA) reported that when comparing the highest intake of fruits group (>2 servings/day) with the lowest intake group (<0.7 servings/day), the highest group had a 25% decreased risk of incident AAA⁶¹. Nordkvist et al. in the Malmö Diet and Cancer Study (a prospective cohort study of 26,133 individuals) examined the incidence of AAA over 20.7 years and found a tendency of decreased risk in individuals adhering to recommendations for fruit and vegetables when compared to those with non-adherence⁶². When comparing the risk of more extreme intake groups, the group with the highest intake of fruits demonstrated a 33% decreased risk. The corresponding group for vegetable intake was associated with 40% decreased risk⁶². A meta-analysis by Takagi et al. (120,055 participants) also found an inverse association of fruit consumption with AAA incidence⁶³.

Comment [S13]: I prefer to separate it into new paragraph

Fruit is the major source (apples 32.0%, followed by chocolate 17.9%, and grapes 17.8%) of procyanidins (polyphenol compounds) in the diet⁶⁴. Polyphenols help by stimulating enzymatic antioxidants and restoring endothelial function^{54,65–67}. Vegetables, especially, green leafy vegetables, contain inorganic nitrate which helps by reducing blood pressure and plaque development⁶⁸. Several previous studies have implicated a high-fat diet and increased levels of serum low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, total cholesterol, and triglyceride levels with an increased risk of AAA^{69,70}. Arachidonic acid, a long-chain omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA), can be metabolized to produce prostaglandin E2, thromboxane A2, and leukotriene B4. The latter has been shown to aggravate AAA through their pro-inflammatory effect^{71–73}. On the other hand, Omega-3 PUFA intake beneficially affects blood lipid levels^{74,75}. They also have anti-inflammatory effects⁷⁶ and reduce oxidative stress⁷⁷. Clinically, omega-3 PUFAs improve flow-mediated arterial dilatation⁶⁸ and improve aortic stiffness in patients with AAA⁷⁹.

Greater adherence to a DASH style dietary pattern is also associated with a lower risk for AAA. Higher consumption of fruits, vegetables, whole grains, low-fat dairy as well as nuts and legumes in this diet may help to decrease the burden of AAAs⁸⁰. Similarly, adherence to the MedD is helpful in reducing the risk of AAA, especially in smokers⁸¹. Individuals with a higher intake of vegetables and fruit often lead a healthier lifestyle in general, decreasing the risk of CVD.

Moderate alcohol consumption is inversely associated with coronary heart disease and stroke⁸². However, the pathogenesis for AAA is different from that causing these CVDs. Stackelberg reported in *Circulation* that moderate alcohol consumption, specifically wine and beer, was associated with a lower hazard of abdominal aortic aneurysm⁸³. A more recent analysis of published studies also showed that lower levels of alcohol consumption were associated with a lower risk of AAA until approximately 15 to 20 g/day, however, the risk increases with higher doses⁸⁴. High levels of alcohol have been shown to upregulate aortic metalloproteases in rats⁸⁵ which has been regarded as a mechanism in the pathology of AAAs, along with inflammatory factors, loss of aortic elasticity, and media thickness⁸⁶. This could account for an increased risk of AAA at higher alcohol consumption levels.

Several vitamins have been found to be low in patients with AAA (B6/C/D/E), however, supplementation does not appear to reduce AAA incidence⁸⁷. Lindqvist et al. found a significant inverse correlation between B12 levels and aneurysm diameter in patients with non-ruptured AAA. Their findings suggested that high B12 level intake might protect against AAA progression, indicating a potential beneficial role of B12 supplementation⁸⁸.

Carotid Artery Disease

Atherosclerosis in the internal carotid artery is an independent risk factor for CVD events^{89,90}. Subclinical atherosclerosis is usually measured by common carotid artery intima-media thickness (CCA-IMT). This measurement is known to predict myocardial infarction and stroke⁹¹⁻⁹⁴. Asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis (>50%) is implicated in 10–15% of all stroke cases^{94,95}. Patients with atherosclerotic diseases, including carotid artery disease, have a high long-term all-cause and cardiac-related mortality^{96,97}. Several studies have investigated the role of diet in the pathogenesis of CCA-IMT^{98,99}. An increase in IMT is usually the first measurable sign of atherosclerosis progression¹⁰⁰. Blakkenhorst et al. found that women consuming ≥ 3 servings of vegetables each day had $\approx 4.6\%$ to 5.0% lower mean CCA-IMT. The effect was more pronounced in those eating more cabbage, brussels sprouts, cauliflower, and broccoli. They estimated that for each 10 g/d higher in cruciferous vegetable intake, there was an associated 0.006 mm (0.8%) lower mean CCA-IMT¹⁰¹. A recent systematic review of 20 studies confirmed this data – Bhat et al. found a general trend between diets rich in plant foods and decreased CCA-IMT¹⁰². Clinically, plant-based diets reduce cerebrovascular disease by 29%¹⁰³. One prospective longitudinal cohort study showed an inverse association of vegetable nitrate intake with carotid atherosclerosis and ischemic cerebrovascular disease in older women after a follow-up of 14.5 years¹⁰⁴. In a population-based prospective cohort study (25,952 patients with a median follow-up of 21.8 years), there was a trend toward a protective effect of adherence to recommended levels of fruit and vegetable on risk of incident carotid artery disease¹⁰⁵. Plants

Comment [S14]: Please change it to CCA-IMT

Comment [S15]: Please change it)

contain many nutrients and bioactive substances, such as phytochemicals, carotenoids, polyphenols, organosulfur compounds, and nitrogen- containing compounds. that help slow the progression of atherosclerosis¹⁰⁶⁻¹⁰⁸. One study found that the effect of cruciferous vegetables (such as cabbage, brussels sprouts, cauliflower, and broccoli) intake had a more pronounced on mean CCA- IMT reduction¹⁰⁹. Wang et al. found a positive association between the Western diet (higher intakes of processed foods, starches, sweetened beverages, and lower consumption of fruits and vegetables) and CCA-IMT in 1,246 midlife women (average age at baseline: 46.3 y) when reviewing data from the Study of Women's Health Across the Nation¹¹⁰. The adoption of a diet low in red meat, processed meat, deep-fried products, and sugar-sweetened beverages among midlife women is associated with a lower future risk of atherosclerosis. Diets high in vegetables, such as the MedD- style diet and the vegetarian diet, have also been shown to be associated with a lower CCA- IMT, and demonstrated a delayed progression or even regression of internal carotid artery-IMT, carotid plaques, and atherosclerosis at 2.4 years of follow-up¹¹¹.

Comment [S16]: I prefer to separate it into new paragraph

Chocolate, coffee, and alcohol consumption have also been associated with CCA-IMT. Several studies have shown that dark chocolate ingestion improves vascular function and helps retard atherosclerosis^{112,113}. Wang et al found that in 1,235 midlife women, after adjusting for covariates, women with >0 to <1 cup/day of coffee intake and 1 to <2 cups/day of coffee intake had a 0.031 mm and a 0.027 mm thicker CCA-IMT, respectively than coffee non-drinkers. Women who consumed ≥ 2 cups/day of coffee did not have significantly different CCA-IMT than non-drinkers¹¹⁴. Overall, it appears that habitual intake of coffee >3 cups a day is not harmful and may even have a protective effect on carotid atherosclerosis¹¹⁵. The relationship with alcohol has been unclear from epidemiological studies. Moon et al. found a protective role of alcohol on CCA-IMT¹¹⁶, while Britton et al showed no association¹¹⁷. Kesse-Guyot et al. suggested that alcohol intake was harmful¹¹⁸. It appears that low to moderate alcohol intake may be beneficial while higher intake may be harmful to carotid artery atherosclerosis. Lee et al. found in their study that alcohol consumption is inversely associated with carotid IMT¹¹⁹. These results conform with those found by Xie et al. in a study of 13,037 Chinese people¹²⁰. Similarly, in a European study of high-risk CVD individuals, there was an inverse relation between moderate alcohol consumption and carotid subclinical atherosclerosis, and its progression over a 30-month period, independent of several potential confounders¹²¹. Low-moderate alcohol consumption, corresponding to no more than three standard glasses per day in men and two in women, has anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, fibrinolytic, and lipid-lowering effects – effects that retard arterial atherosclerosis¹²². A higher intake appears to be harmful in most studies¹²³.

Congenital Heart Disease

Congenital heart diseases (CoHDs) are the most common defects presenting at birth and are characterized by abnormal development of the heart and great vessels¹²⁴. CoHDs also represent the leading cause of neonatal and infant death due to congenital causes^{125,126}. Requirements for macronutrients and several micronutrients increase during pregnancy due to the growing needs of the fetus. As a result, certain dietary patterns affect CoHD¹²⁷. The prudent diet (characterized by higher intakes of fruits and vegetables and healthy foods such as yogurt, reduced-fat milk,

whole-wheat bread, fortified cereal, fish, and lower in total and monounsaturated fat) is associated with a reduced risk of CoHDs¹²⁸. Stores-Alvarez et al. reported that a Western diet (characterized by higher intakes of processed foods, starches, sweetened beverages, and lower consumption of fruits and vegetables) intake was associated with increased odds of offspring born with conotruncal and septal defects when compared with the intake of a prudent diet¹²⁹. In a case-control study, Zhang et al. found that excessive consumption of pickled vegetables (adjusted odds ratio or aOR = 1.58), smoked foods (aOR = 1.84), barbecued foods (aOR = 1.62), fish and shrimp (aOR = 0.37), and milk products (aOR = 0.64) had a significant association with a total CoHDs risk¹³⁰. Shaw et al reported evidence for increased risks associated with lower dietary intakes of linoleic acid, total carbohydrate, and fructose for d-transposition of great arteries and a decreased risk for tetralogy of Fallot with lower intakes of total protein and methionine¹³¹. Recently, Paige et al. found that increased maternal fat intake, not adjusted for total energy intake, was associated with decreased odds of double-inlet ventricle¹³². However, the effect was minimal.

Several vitamins taken during pregnancy are extremely helpful in preventing heart defects in the newborn. Smedts and colleagues have shown that low maternal intakes of riboflavin and nicotinamide are associated with ventricular outflow tract defects¹²⁸. Women using vitamins containing folic acid during the early stages of pregnancy notice a significantly reduced risk of offspring with heart defects¹³³⁻¹³⁶. Dietary intake of B12 is also an independent risk factor for CoHDs¹³⁷. Several studies have found low B12 levels in mothers born with children with CoHD^{138,139}. Kapusta et al. reported that median fasting plasma homocysteine was higher and mean plasma B12 levels were lower in mothers of children with CoHD¹⁴⁰. The deleterious effects of low folate and vitamin B12 status appear to be related to maternal hyperhomocysteinaemia¹⁴¹. Shaw et al. implicated several nutrients, including niacin, riboflavin, thiamin, and vitamins B6, B12, C, E, and A, with an increased risk of d-transposition of the great arteries¹³¹. High maternal vitamin E intake via diet and supplements may increase the risk of CoHD in the offspring¹⁴². A multivitamin supplement taken during the prenatal and natal period helps reduce CoHD.

Maternal alcohol consumption increases the risk of CoHD¹⁴³. Prenatal alcohol exposure is considered a key factor that leads to teratogenesis in CoHD and its specific phenotypes, especially defects of the cardiac septa, cardiac valves, cardiac canals, and great arteries, adjacent to the chambers, both in animal experiments and clinical retrospective studies¹⁴⁴. Even paternal alcohol consumption (along with maternal alcohol consumption) in high amounts increases the risk of CoHD in the offspring¹⁴⁵. A meta-analysis of 55 studies involving 41,747 CoHD cases showed that both maternal (odds ratio (OR) = 1.16) and paternal (OR = 1.44) alcohol exposures were significantly associated with the risk of total CoHDs in offspring^{143,145}.

Obese pregnant women are more prone to have offspring with CoHD¹⁴⁶. A systematic review and meta-analysis found a higher risk of congenital cardiovascular anomalies (OR: 1.30) in children born from obese women when compared with non-obese pregnant women¹⁴⁷. The risk increased with increasing levels of obesity¹³⁸. Children born with excess body weight increase their risk of later life obesity¹⁴⁹. Offspring with CoHD are living longer and are often

malnourished¹⁵⁰, especially if they have either heart failure or cyanosis¹⁵¹⁻¹⁵⁴. Asymptomatic infants are the worst affected¹⁵⁵. Finally, exposure to a high-fat maternal diet may lead to an increased risk of CVD in the offspring in the future¹⁵⁶. The intake of a healthy diet, and avoidance of obesity, is therefore important during pregnancy.

Heart Transplantation

Heart transplant patients (HTP) face several problems that make nutritional intervention necessary. A study by Russo et al. of 19,593 orthotopic heart transplant recipients aged ≥ 18 years, found that those with a BMI < 18.5 (underweight) and with BMI ≥ 30 (obese) demonstrated poor survival¹⁵⁷. Heart transplant patients tend to gain excessive weight post surgery¹⁵⁸. Weight gain is also an important driver for the development of post-transplant T2DM in 15.7% to 40.0% HTPs¹⁵⁹. Immunosuppressive medications also contribute to the development of T2DM. These patients have a poorer prognosis. Obese HTPs also have a higher incidence of HTN and hyperlipidemia. This portends increased mortality, as post-HTPs exhibit an accelerated form of CAD - cardiac allograft vasculopathy¹⁶⁰. There is some suggestion that supplementation with vitamins C and E after heart transplantation may be beneficial in preventing cardiac allograft vasculopathy, while vitamin D supplementation, in conjunction with calcium, may help in preventing post-transplant bone loss¹⁶¹. However, studies on this topic remain scarce.

Conclusion

Diet plays an important role in the development and modulation of cardiovascular diseases. Its relationship with uncommon CVDs such as aortic valvular disease, abdominal aortic aneurysm, carotid artery disease, congenital heart disease, and heart transplantation-related cardiac problems is often ignored. Dietary indiscretion can negatively affect these ailments. MedD and DASH diets are important in mitigating valvular heart disease and atherosclerosis. The latter plays a major role in AAA and carotid artery disease. Preventing CoHD in offspring can be achieved to a large degree with a proper diet and multivitamin supplementation in prenatal and natal mothers. Children born with congenital heart disease often need nutritional assessment and directions for proper growth. Patients post-heart transplantation also need to adhere to dietary recommendations – to avoid obesity and cardiac allograft vasculopathy. This manuscript provides a narrative review of the role of diet in these conditions.

References

1. Roth GA, Mensah GA, Johnson CO, Addolorato G, Ammirati E, et al. GBD-NHLBI-JACC Global Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases Writing Group. Global Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases and Risk Factors, 1990-2019: Update From the GBD 2019 Study. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2020 Dec 22;76(25):2982-3021. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.11.010.
2. World Health Organisation . Global Atlas on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention and Control. World Health Organisation; Geneva, Switzerland: 2011.

3. Mottillo S., Filion K.B., Genest J., Joseph L., Pilote L., Poirier P., Rinfret S., Schiffrin E.L., Eisenberg M.J. The metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular risk a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* 2010;56:1113–1132. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2010.05.034.
4. Jih J, Mukherjea A, Vittinghoff E, Nguyen TT, Tsoh JY, Fukuoka Y, et al. Using appropriate body mass index cut points for overweight and obesity among Asian Americans. *Prev Med.* 2014 Aug;65:1-6. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.04.010.
5. Staynor JMD, Smith MK, Donnelly CJ, Sallam AE, Ackland TR. DXA reference values and anthropometric screening for visceral obesity in Western Australian adults. *Sci Rep.* 2020 Oct 30;10(1):18731. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-73631-x.
6. Chouchani E.T., Kajimura S. Metabolic adaptation and maladaptation in adipose tissue. *Nat. Metab.* 2019;1:189–200. doi: 10.1038/s42255-018-0021-8.
7. Christ A, Lauterbach M, Latz E. Western Diet and the Immune System: An Inflammatory Connection. *Immunity.* 2019 Nov 19;51(5):794-811. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.09.020.
8. Quek J, Lim G, Lim WH, Ng CH, So WZ, Toh J, et al. The Association of Plant-Based Diet With Cardiovascular Disease and Mortality: A Meta-Analysis and Systematic Review of Prospect Cohort Studies. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* 2021 Nov 5;8:756810. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2021.756810.
9. Estruch R, Ros E, Salas- Salvadó J, Covas M- I, Corella D, Arós F, et al. Primary prevention of cardiovascular disease with a Mediterranean diet supplemented with extra- virgin olive oil or nuts. *N Engl J Med.* 2018;378:e34. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1800389.
10. Fleet JC. DASH without the dash (of salt) can lower blood pressure. *Nutr Rev.* 2001;59:291-293. doi:10.1111/j.1753-4887.2001.tb07019.x
11. Salehi-Abargouei A, et al. Effects of Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH)-style diet on fatal or nonfatal cardiovascular diseases—incidence: a systematic review and meta-analysis on observational prospective studies. *Nutrition.* 2013;29(4):611–618.. the
12. Chiavaroli L, Viguioliouk E, Nishi S, Blanco Mejia S, Rahelić D, Kahleová H, et al. Dash dietary pattern and cardiometabolic outcomes: an umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta- analyses. *Nutrients.* 2019;11:338.
13. Glenn AJ, Viguioliouk E, Seider M, Boucher BA, Khan TA, Blanco Mejia S, et al. Relation of vegetarian dietary patterns with major cardiovascular outcomes: a systematic review and meta- analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Front Nutr.* 2019;6:80. DOI: 10.3389/fnut.2019.00080.
14. Ross J, Braunwald E. Aortic stenosis. *Circulation.* 1968 Jul;38(1 Suppl):61-7.
15. Christenson JT, Simonet F, Maurice J, Bloch A, Velebit V, Schmuziger M. Mitral regurgitation in patients with coronary artery disease and low left ventricular ejection fractions. How should it be treated? *Tex Heart Inst J.* 1995;22(3):243-9.
16. Coats AJS, Anker SD, Baumbach A, Alfieri O, von Bardeleben RS, et al. The management of secondary mitral regurgitation in patients with heart failure: a joint position statement from the Heart Failure Association (HFA), European Association of Cardiovascular Imaging (EACVI), European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA), and

- European Association of Percutaneous Cardiovascular Interventions (EAPCI) of the ESC. *Eur Heart J*. 2021 Mar 18;42(13):1254–69. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab086.
17. Mutlak D, Lessick J, Khalil S, Yalonetsky S, Agmon Y, Aronson D. Tricuspid regurgitation in acute heart failure: is there any incremental risk? *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging*. 2018 Sep 1;19(9):993-1001. doi: 10.1093/ehjci/jex343.
 18. Sharma H, Radhakrishnan A, Nightingale P, Brown S, May J, et al. The characteristics of mitral regurgitation: Data from patients admitted following acute myocardial infarction. *Data Brief*. 2021 Oct 12;39:107451. doi: 10.1016/j.dib.2021.107451
 19. Aksoy O, Cam A, Agarwal S, et al. Significance of aortic valve calcification in patients with low-gradient low-flow aortic stenosis. *Clin Cardiol*. 2014;37:26–31.
 20. Lindman B.R., Clavel M.A., Mathieu P., Iung B., Lancellotti P., Otto C.M., Pibarot P. Calcific aortic stenosis. *Nat. Rev. Dis. Primers*. 2016;2:16006. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2016.6.
 21. Roberts WC, Ko JM. Frequency by decades of unicuspid, bicuspid, and tricuspid aortic valves in adults having isolated aortic valve replacement for aortic stenosis, with or without associated aortic regurgitation. *Circulation*. 2005;111:920–5.
 22. Horstkotte D, Loogen F. The natural history of aortic valve stenosis. *Eur Heart J* 1988; 9(Suppl E): 57–64.
 23. Turina J, Hess O, Sepulcri F, Krayenbuehl HP. Spontaneous course of aortic valve disease. *Eur Heart J* 1987; 8: 471–83.
 24. Aronow WS. Indications for surgical aortic valve replacement. *J Cardiovasc Dis Diagn*. 2013;4(1):1- 4.
 25. Giritharan S, Cagampang F, Torrens C, Salhiyyah K, Duggan S, Ohri S. Aortic stenosis prognostication in patients with type 2 diabetes: protocol for testing and validation of a biomarker- derived scoring system. *JMIR Res Protoc*. 2019;8:e13186.
 26. Rossebø AB, Pedersen TR. Hyperlipidaemia and aortic valve disease. *Curr Opin Lipidol*. 2004 Aug;15(4):447-51. doi: 10.1097/01.mol.0000137229.00020.fe.
 27. Sacks F.M. Svetkey L.P. Vollmer W.M. Appel L.J. Bray G.A. Harsha D. et al. Effects on blood pressure of reduced dietary sodium and the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet. DASH-Sodium Collaborative Research Group. *N. Engl. J. Med*. 2001; 344: 3-10.
 28. Hernaez A. Castaner O. Goday A. et al. The Mediterranean Diet decreases LDL atherogenicity in high cardiovascular risk individuals: a randomized controlled trial. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res*. 2017; 61.
 29. Storniolo C.E. Casillas R. Bullo M. et al. A Mediterranean diet supplemented with extra virgin olive oil or nuts improves endothelial markers involved in blood pressure control in hypertensive women. *Eur. J. Nutr*. 2017; 56: 89-97.
 30. He K. Liu K. Daviglus M.L. Jenny N.S. Mayer-Davis E. Jiang R. et al. Associations of dietary long-chain n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and fish with biomarkers of inflammation and endothelial activation (from the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis [MESA]). *Am. J. Cardiol*. 2009; 103: 1238-1243.
 31. Larsson SC, Wolk A, Bäck M. Dietary patterns, food groups, and incidence of aortic valve stenosis: A prospective cohort study. *Int J Cardiol*. 2019 May 15;283:184-188. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2018.11.007.

32. Katz R, Budoff MJ, Takasu J, et al. Relationship of metabolic syndrome with incident aortic valve calcium and aortic valve calcium progression: the Multi- Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). *Diabetes*. 2009;58:813- 819.
33. Banovic M, Athithan L, McCann GP. Aortic stenosis and diabetes mellitus: an ominous combination. *Diab Vasc Dis Res*. 2019;16:310- 323.
34. Lorusso R, Gelsomino S, Luca F, et al. Type 2 diabetes mellitus is associated with faster degeneration of bioprosthetic valve: results from a propensity score- matched Italian multicenter study. *Circulation*. 2012;125:604- 614.
35. <https://www.niddk.nih.gov/health-information/diabetes/overview/diet-eating-physical-activity>.
36. Larsson SC, Wolk A, Håkansson N, Bäck M. Coffee consumption and risk of aortic valve stenosis: A prospective study. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis*. 2018 Aug;28(8):803-807. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2018.01.016.
37. Larsson SC, Wolk A, Bäck M. Alcohol consumption, cigarette smoking and incidence of aortic valve stenosis. *J Intern Med*. 2017 Oct;282(4):332-339. doi: 10.1111/joim.12630.
38. Surapaneni P, Vinales KL, Najib MQ, Chaliki HP. Valvular heart disease with the use of fenfluramine-phentermine. *Tex Heart Inst J*. 2011;38(5):581-583.
39. Seghatol FF, Rigolin VH. Appetite suppressants and valvular heart disease. *Curr Opin Cardiol*. 2002 Sep;17(5):486-92. doi: 10.1097/00001573-200209000-00007.
40. <https://www.medscape.com/viewarticle/786841> - accessed February 6, 2022.
41. Weissman NJ. Appetite suppressants and valvular heart disease. *Am J Med Sci*. 2001 Apr;321(4):285-91. doi: 10.1097/00000441-200104000-00008.
42. Steinberg I, Stein HL. Arteriosclerotic abdominal aneurysms. Report of 200 consecutive cases diagnosed by intravenous aortography. *Jama*. 1966;195:1025–1029. doi: 10.1001/jama.1966.03100120093023.
43. Raffort J., Lareyre F., Clément M., Hassen-Khodja R., Chinetti G., Mallat Z. Monocytes and macrophages in abdominal aortic aneurysm. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol*. 2017;14:457–471. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2017.52.
44. Norman PE, Powell JT. Site specificity of aneurysmal disease. *Circulation*. 2010;121:560–568. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.880724.
45. Nordon IM, Hinchliffe RJ, Loftus IM, Thompson MM. Pathophysiology and epidemiology of abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol*. (2011) 8:92–102. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2010.180.
46. Golledge J. Abdominal aortic aneurysm: Update on pathogenesis and medical treatments. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol*. 2019;16:225–242. doi: 10.1038/s41569-018-0114-9.
47. Lindeman J.H., Matsumura J.S. Pharmacologic management of aneurysms. *Circ. Res*. 2019;124:631–646. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.312439.
48. Brown PM, Sobolev B, Zelt DT. Selective management of abdominal aortic aneurysms smaller than 5.0 cm in a prospective sizing program with gender-specific analysis. *J Vasc Surg* (2003) 38(4):762–5. doi: 10.1016/S0741-5214(03)00551-2.
49. Hall AJ, Busse EF, Mccarville DJ, Burgess JJ. Aortic wall tension as a predictive factor for abdominal aortic aneurysm rupture: improving the selection of patients for abdominal aortic aneurysm repair. *Ann Vasc Surg* (2000) 14(2):152–7. doi: 10.1007/s100169910027.

50. Hinchliffe RJ, Bruijstens L, MacSweeney ST, Braithwaite BD. A randomised trial of endovascular and open surgery for ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysm - results of a pilot study and lessons learned for future studies. *Eur. J. Vasc. Endovasc. Surg.* (2006) 32:506–13. 10.1016/j.ejvs.2006.05.016.
51. Basnyat PS, Biffin AH, Moseley LG, Hedges AR, Lewis MH. Mortality from ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysm in Wales. *Br. J. Surg.* (1999) 86:765–70. 10.1046/j.1365-2168.1999.01170.x.
52. Sakalihasan N, Michel JB, Katsargyris A, Kuivaniemi H, Defraigne JO, Nchimi A, et al. Abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Nat. Rev. Dis. Primers.* (2018) 4:34 10.1038/s41572-018-0030-7.
53. Meital L.T., Windsor M.T., Maynard A.E., Schulze K., Magee R., et al. Endotoxin tolerance in abdominal aortic aneurysm macrophages, in vitro: A case-control study. *Antioxidants.* 2020;9:896. doi: 10.3390/antiox9090896.
54. McCormick ML, Gavrila D, Weintraub NL. Role of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2007; 27: 461–469.
55. Eagleton MJ. Inflammation in abdominal aortic aneurysms: cellular infiltrate and cytokine profiles. *Vascular.* 2012 Oct;20(5):278–83. doi: 10.1258/vasc.2011.201207.
56. Zhang J, Schmidt J, Ryschich E, Schumacher H, Allenberg JR. Increased apoptosis and decreased density of medial smooth muscle cells in human abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Chin. Med. J.* (2003) 116:1549–52.
57. Kaluza J, Stackelberg O, Harris HR, Björck M, Wolk A. Anti-inflammatory diet and risk of abdominal aortic aneurysm in two Swedish cohorts. *Heart.* 2019 Dec;105(24):1876–1883. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2019-315031.
58. Kavazos K., Nataatmadja M., Wales K.M., Hartland E., Williams C., Russell F.D. Dietary supplementation with omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids modulate matrix metalloproteinase immunoreactivity in a mouse model of pre-abdominal aortic aneurysm. *Heart Lung Circ.* 2015;24:377–385. doi: 10.1016/j.hlc.2014.11.005.
59. Kent KC, et al. Analysis of risk factors for abdominal aortic aneurysm in a cohort of more than 3 million individuals. *Journal of Vascular Surgery.* 2010;52:539–548. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2010.05.090.
60. Nordkvist, S., Sonestedt, E. & Acosta, S. Adherence to diet recommendations and risk of abdominal aortic aneurysm in the Malmö Diet and Cancer Study. *Sci Rep* 8, 2017 (2018). <https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20415-z>.
61. Stackelberg O, Björck M, Larsson SC, Orsini N, Wolk A. Fruit and vegetable consumption with risk of abdominal aortic aneurysm. *Circulation.* 2013;128:795–802. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.000728.
62. Nordkvist S, Sonestedt E, Acosta S. Adherence to diet recommendations and risk of abdominal aortic aneurysm in the Malmö Diet and Cancer Study. Published 2018 Jan 31. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-20415-z.
63. Takagi H; ALICE (All-Literature Investigation of Cardiovascular Evidence) Group. Which should we eat, fruit or vegetables? The association with abdominal aortic aneurysm. *Eur J Prev Cardiol.* 2020 Dec;27(19):2302–2307. doi: 10.1177/2047487319876227.

64. Gu L, Kelm MA, Hammerstone JF, et al. Concentrations of proanthocyanidins in common foods and estimations of normal consumption. *J Nutr* 2004; 134: 613–617.
65. Álvarez E, Rodiño-Janeiro BK, Jerez M, et al. Procyanidins from grape pomace are suitable inhibitors of human endothelial NADPH oxidase. *J Cell Biochem* 2012; 113: 1386–1396.
66. Bianconi V, Mannarino MR, Sahebkar A, et al. Cholesterol-Lowering Nutraceuticals Affecting Vascular Function and Cardiovascular Disease Risk. *Curr Cardiol Rep* 2018; 20: 53.
67. Pincemail J, Defraigne JO, Courtois A, Albert A, Cheramy-Bien JP, Sakalihasan N. Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm (AAA): Is There a Role for the Prevention and Therapy Using Antioxidants? *Curr Drug Targets*. 2018;19(11):1256-1264. doi: 10.2174/1389450118666170918164601.
68. O'Donnell VB, Freeman BA. Interactions between nitric oxide and lipid oxidation pathways: implications for vascular disease. *Circ Res* 2001; 88: 12–21.
69. Forsdahl SH, Singh K, Solberg S, Jacobsen BK. Risk factors for abdominal aortic aneurysms: a 7-year prospective study: the Tromsø Study, 1994–2001. *Circulation*. (2009) 119:2202–8. 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.817619.
70. Gopal K, Kumar K, Nandini R, Jahan P, Kumar MJ. High fat diet containing cholesterol induce aortic aneurysm through recruitment and proliferation of circulating agranulocytes in apoE knock out mice model. *J Thromb Thrombolysis*. 2010 Aug;30(2):154-63. doi: 10.1007/s11239-010-0446-8.
71. Bayston T, Ramessur S, Reise J, Jones KG, Powell JT. Prostaglandin E2 receptors in abdominal aortic aneurysm and human aortic smooth muscle cells. *J. Vasc. Surg.* (2003) 38:354–9. 10.1016/S0741-5214(03)00339-2.
72. Holmes DR, Wester W, Thompson RW, Reilly JM. Prostaglandin E2 synthesis and cyclooxygenase expression in abdominal aortic aneurysms. *J. Vasc. Surg.* (1997) 25:810–5. 10.1016/S0741-5214(97)70210-6.
73. Ahluwalia N, Lin AY, Tager AM, Pruitt IE, Anderson TJ, Kristo F, et al. Inhibited aortic aneurysm formation in BLT1-deficient mice. *J. Immunol.* (2007) 179:691–7. 10.4049/jimmunol.179.1.691.
74. Oh Y, Jin Y, Park Y. Synergic hypocholesterolaemic effect of n-3 PUFA and oestrogen by modulation of hepatic cholesterol metabolism in female rats. *Br. J. Nutr.* (2015) 114:1766–73. 10.1017/S0007114515003517.
75. Pizzini A, Lunger L, Demetz E, Hilbe R, Weiss G, Ebenbichler C, et al. . The role of omega-3 fatty acids in reverse cholesterol transport: a review. *Nutrients*. (2017) 9:1099. 10.3390/nu9101099.
76. Akagi D, Hoshina K, Watanabe T, Conte MS. Drug Therapy for Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms Utilizing Omega-3 Unsaturated Fatty Acids and Their Derivatives. *Curr Drug Targets*. 2018;19(11):1309-1317. doi: 10.2174/1389450118666171013101815.
77. Meital LT, Windsor MT, Perissiou M, Schulze K, Magee R, Kuballa A, et al.. Omega-3 fatty acids decrease oxidative stress and inflammation in macrophages from patients with small abdominal aortic aneurysm. *Sci. Rep.* (2019) 9:12978. 10.1038/s41598-019-49362-z.

78. Vlachopoulos C., Aznaouridis K., Stefanadis C. Prediction of cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality with arterial stiffness: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* 2010;55:1318–1327. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.10.061.
79. Meital LT, Schulze K, Magee R, O'Donnell J, Jha P, et al. Long Chain Omega-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids Improve Vascular Stiffness in Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Nutrients.* 2020 Dec 31;13(1):138. doi: 10.3390/nu13010138.
80. Haring B, Selvin E, He X, Coresh J, Steffen LM, Folsom AR, Tang W, Rebholz CM. Adherence to the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension Dietary Pattern and Risk of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm: Results From the ARIC Study. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2018 Nov 6;7(21):e009340. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.118.009340.
81. Kaluza J, Stackelberg O, Harris HR, Akesson A, Björck M, Wolk A. Mediterranean Diet is Associated with Reduced Risk of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm in Smokers: Results of Two Prospective Cohort Studies. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg.* 2021 Aug;62(2):284-293. doi: 10.1016/j.ejvs.2021.04.017.
82. Ronksley PE, Brien SE, Turner BJ, Mukamal KJ, Ghali WA. Association of alcohol consumption with selected cardiovascular disease outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ.* 2011; 342:d671.
83. Otto Stackelberg, Martin Björck, Susanna C. Larsson, Nicola Orsini, and Alicja Wolk. Alcohol Consumption, Specific Alcoholic Beverages, and Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. *Circulation.* 2014;130:646–652. <https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.008279>.
84. S M Spencer, A J Trower, X Jia, D J A Scott, D C Greenwood, Meta-analysis of the association between alcohol consumption and abdominal aortic aneurysm, *British Journal of Surgery*, Volume 104, Issue 13, December 2017, Pages 1756–1764, <https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.10674>.
85. Partridge CR, Sampson HW, Forough R. Long-term alcohol consumption increases matrix metalloproteinase-2 activity in rat aorta. *Life Sci* 1999; 65: 1395–1402.
86. Wassef M, Baxter BT, Chisholm RL, Dalman RL, Fillinger MF, Heinecke J et al. Pathogenesis of abdominal aortic aneurysms: a multidisciplinary research program supported by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. *J Vasc Surg* 2001; 34: 730–738.
87. Takagi H, Umemoto T; Alice (All-Literature Investigation of Cardiovascular Evidence) group. Vitamins and abdominal aortic aneurysm. *Int Angiol.* 2017 Feb;36(1):21-30. doi: 10.23736/S0392-9590.16.03618-X.
88. Lindqvist M, Hellström A, Henriksson AE. Abdominal aortic aneurysm and the association with serum levels of Homocysteine, vitamins B6, B12 and Folate. *Am J Cardiovasc Dis.* 2012;2(4):318-322.
89. Sirimarco G, Amarenco P, Labreuche J, Touboul PJ, Alberts M, Goto S, et al. Carotid atherosclerosis and risk of subsequent coronary event in outpatients with atherothrombosis. *Stroke.* 2013;44(2):373–9.

90. Giannopoulos A, Kakkos S, Abbott A, Naylor AR, Richards T, Mikhailidis DP, et al. Long-term mortality in patients with asymptomatic carotid stenosis: implications for statin therapy. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg.* 2015;50(5):573–82.
91. Ebrahim S, Papacosta O, Whincup P, Wannamethee G, Walker M, et al. Carotid plaque, intima media thickness, cardiovascular risk factors, and prevalent cardiovascular disease in men and women. *Stroke.* 1999;30:841–850.
92. Lorenz MW, Markus HS, Bots ML, Rosvall M, Sitzer M. Prediction of clinical cardiovascular events with carotid intima-media thickness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Circulation.* 2007;115:459–467.
93. Touboul PJ, Hennerici MG, Meairs S, Adams H, Amarenco P, et al. Mannheim carotid intima-media thickness and plaque consensus (2004–2006–2011). *Cerebrovasc Dis.* 2012;34:290–296.
94. Naqvi TZ, Lee MS. Carotid intima-media thickness and plaque in cardiovascular risk assessment. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging.* 2014 Oct;7(10):1025–38. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2013.11.014.
95. Naylor AR. Why is the management of asymptomatic carotid disease so controversial? *Surgeon.* 2015;13(1):34–43.
96. Sirimarco G, Amarenco P, Labreuche J, Touboul PJ, Alberts M, Goto S, et al. Carotid atherosclerosis and risk of subsequent coronary event in outpatients with atherothrombosis. *Stroke.* 2013;44(2):373–9.
97. Giannopoulos A, Kakkos S, Abbott A, Naylor AR, Richards T, Mikhailidis DP, et al. Long-term mortality in patients with asymptomatic carotid stenosis: implications for statin therapy. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg.* 2015;50(5):573–82.
98. Wang D, Karvonen-Gutierrez CA, Jackson EA, Elliott MR, Appelhans BM, Barinas-Mitchell E, Bielak LF, Baylin A. Prospective associations between beverage intake during the midlife and subclinical carotid atherosclerosis: The Study of Women's Health Across the Nation. *PLoS One.* 2019 Jul 10;14(7):e0219301. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0219301.
99. González-Padilla E, Janzi S, Ramne S, Thuneland C, Borné Y, Sonestedt E. Association between Sugar Intake and Intima Media Thickness as a Marker for Atherosclerosis: A Cross-Sectional Study in the Malmö Diet and Cancer Study (Sweden). *Nutrients.* 2021;13(5):1555. Published 2021 May 5. doi:10.3390/nu13051555.
100. Simova I. Intima-media thickness: Appropriate evaluation and proper measurement. *e-J. Cardiol. Pract.* 2015 13 Available online: <https://www.escardio.org/Journals/E-Journal-of-Cardiology-Practice/Volume-13/Intima-media-thickness-Appropriate-evaluation-and-proper-measurement-described>.
101. Blekkenhorst LC, Bondonno CP, Lewis JR, Woodman RJ, Devine A, et al. Cruciferous and Total Vegetable Intakes Are Inversely Associated With Subclinical Atherosclerosis in Older Adult Women. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2018 Apr 4;7(8):e008391. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.117.008391.
102. Bhat S, Mocciaro G, Ray S. The association of dietary patterns and carotid intima-media thickness: a synthesis of current evidence. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2019;29(12):1273–87.

103. Kwok C.S., Umar S., Myint P.K., Mamas M.A., Loke Y.K. Vegetarian diet, Seventh Day Adventists and risk of cardiovascular mortality: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 2014;176:680–686. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2014.07.080
104. Bondonno CP, Blekkenhorst LC, Prince RL, Ivey KL, Lewis JR, Devine A, et al. Association of vegetable nitrate intake with carotid atherosclerosis and ischemic cerebrovascular disease in older women. *Stroke.* 2017;48(7):1724–9.
105. Johansson A, Acosta S. Diet and Lifestyle as Risk Factors for Carotid Artery Disease: A Prospective Cohort Study. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* 2020;49(5):563-569. doi: 10.1159/000510907.
106. Liu RH. Health- promoting components of fruits and vegetables in the diet. *Adv Nutr.* 2013;4:384S–392S.
107. Voutilainen S, Nurmi T, Mursu J, Rissanen TH. Carotenoids and cardiovascular health. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2006;83:1265–1271. ; Quiñones M, Miguel M, Aleixandre A. Beneficial effects of polyphenols on cardiovascular disease. *Pharmacol Res.* 2013;68:125–131.
108. Weitzberg E, Lundberg JO. Novel aspects of dietary nitrate and human health. *Annu Rev Nutr.* 2013;33:129–159.
109. Vazquez- Prieto MA, Miatello RM. Organosulfur compounds and cardiovascular disease. *Mol Aspects Med.* 2010;31:540–545.
110. Wang D, Karvonen-Gutierrez CA, Jackson EA, Elliott MR, Appelhans BM, et al. Western Dietary Pattern Derived by Multiple Statistical Methods Is Prospectively Associated with Subclinical Carotid Atherosclerosis in Midlife Women. *J Nutr.* 2020 Mar 1;150(3):579-591. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxz270.
111. Sala-Vila A, Romero-Mamani ES, Gilabert R, Núñez I, de la Torre R, Corella D, et al. Changes in ultrasound-assessed carotid intima-media thickness and plaque with a Mediterranean diet: a substudy of the PREDIMED trial. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2014;34(2):439–45.
112. Lewis JR, Prince RL, Zhu K, Devine A, Thompson PL, Hodgson JM. Habitual Chocolate Intake and Vascular Disease: A Prospective Study of Clinical Outcomes in Older Women. *Arch Intern Med.* 2010;170(20):1857–1858. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2010.396.
113. Lewis JR, Prince RL, Zhu K, Devine A, Thompson PL, Hodgson JM: Habitual chocolate intake and vascular disease: a prospective study of clinical outcomes in older women. *Arch Intern Med.* 2010, 170: 1857-1858. 10.1001/archinternmed.2010.396.
114. Wang D, Karvonen-Gutierrez CA, Jackson EA, Elliott MR, Appelhans BM, et al. Prospective associations between beverage intake during the midlife and subclinical carotid atherosclerosis: The Study of Women's Health Across the Nation. *PLoS One.* 2019 Jul 10;14(7):e0219301. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0219301.
115. Miranda AM, Steluti J, Goulart AC, Bensenor IM, Lotufo PA, Marchioni DM. Coffee Consumption and Coronary Artery Calcium Score: Cross- Sectional Results of ELSA- Brasil (Brazilian Longitudinal Study of Adult Health). *Journal of the American Heart Association.* 2018;7(7):e007155 10.1161/JAHA.117.007155.

116. Moon J, et al. Casual alcohol consumption is associated with less subclinical cardiovascular organ damage in Koreans: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*. 2018;18(1):1091.
117. Britton AR, et al. Alcohol consumption and common carotid intima-media thickness: the USE-IMT Study. *Alcohol Alcohol*. 2017;52(4):483–486.
118. Kesse-Guyot E, et al. Associations between dietary patterns and arterial stiffness, carotid artery intima-media thickness and atherosclerosis. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil*. 2010;17(6):718–724.
119. Lee YH, Shin MH, Kweon SS, Choi SW, Kim HY, Ryu SY, Kim BH, Rhee JA, Choi JS. Alcohol consumption and carotid artery structure in Korean adults aged 50 years and older. *BMC Public Health*. 2009 Sep 23;9:358. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-9-358.
120. Xie X, Ma YT, Yang YN, Fu ZY, Ma X, et al. Alcohol consumption and carotid atherosclerosis in China: the Cardiovascular Risk Survey. *Eur J Prev Cardiol*. 2012 Jun;19(3):314–21. doi: 10.1177/1741826711404501.
121. Laguzzi F, Baldassarre D, Veglia F, Strawbridge RJ, Humphries SE, et al. IMPROVE Study group. Alcohol consumption in relation to carotid subclinical atherosclerosis and its progression: results from a European longitudinal multicentre study. *Eur J Nutr*. 2021 Feb;60(1):123–134. doi: 10.1007/s00394-020-02220-5.
122. Chiva-Blanch G, et al. Effects of alcohol and polyphenols from beer on atherosclerotic biomarkers in high cardiovascular risk men: a randomized feeding trial. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis*. 2015;25(1):36–45.
123. Wurtz P, et al. Metabolic profiling of alcohol consumption in 9778 young adults. *Int J Epidemiol*. 2016;45(5):1493–1506.
124. van der Linde D, Konings EEM, Slager MA, et al. Birth prevalence of congenital heart disease worldwide: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2011;58(21):2241–7.
125. Botto LD, Correa A (2003) Decreasing the burden of congenital heart anomalies: an epidemiologic evaluation of risk factors and survival. *Prog Pediatr Cardiol* 18:111–12.
126. Hoffman JIE, Kaplan S, Liberthson RR. Prevalence of congenital heart disease. *Am Heart J* 2004;147(3):425–39.
127. Collins RT 2nd, Yang W, Carmichael SL, et al. Maternal dietary fat intake and the risk of congenital heart defects in offspring. *Pediatr Res*. 2020;88(5):804–809. doi:10.1038/s41390-020-0813-x.
128. Smedts HPM, Rakhshandehroo M, Verkleij-Hagoort AC, et al. Maternal intake of fat, riboflavin and nicotinamide and the risk of having offspring with congenital heart defects. *Eur J Nutr* 2008;47(7):357–65.
129. Sotres-Alvarez D, Siega-Riz AM, Herring AH, et al. Maternal dietary patterns are associated with risk of neural tube and congenital heart defects. *Am J Epidemiol* 2013;177(11):1279–88.
130. Zhang S, Liu X, Yang T, Wang T, Chen L, Qin J. Association of maternal dietary habits and ADIPOQ gene polymorphisms with the risk of congenital heart defects in

- offspring: a hospital-based case-control study. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* 2021 Jul 6. doi: 10.1038/s41430-021-00969-4.
131. Shaw GM, Carmichael SL, Yang W, Lammer EJ. Periconceptional nutrient intakes and risks of conotruncal heart defects. *Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol.* 2010;88(3):144-151. doi:10.1002/bdra.20648.
 132. Paige SL, Yang W, Priest JR, et al. Risk factors associated with the development of double-inlet ventricle congenital heart disease. *Birth Defects Res* 2019;111(11):640–8.
 133. Bailey LB, Berry RJ. Folic acid supplementation and the occurrence of congenital heart defects, orofacial clefts, multiple births, and miscarriage. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2005;81(suppl):1213s–7s.
 134. Botto LD, Mulinare J, Erickson JD. Occurrence of congenital heart defects in relation to maternal multivitamin use. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2000;151:878–84.
 135. Botto LD, Olney RS, Erickson JD. Vitamin supplements and the risk for congenital anomalies other than neural tube defects. *Am J Med Genet Part C (Semin Med Genet)* 2004;125C:12–21.
 136. Lynn B Bailey, Robert J Berry, Folic acid supplementation and the occurrence of congenital heart defects, orofacial clefts, multiple births, and miscarriage, *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, Volume 81, Issue 5, May 2005, Pages 1213S–1217S, <https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/81.5.1213>
 137. Verkleij-Hagoort AC, de Vries JH, Ursem NT, de Jonge R, Hop WC, Steegers-Theunissen RP. Dietary intake of B-vitamins in mothers born a child with a congenital heart defect. *Eur J Nutr.* 2006 Dec;45(8):478-86. doi: 10.1007/s00394-006-0622-y.
 138. Hobbs CA, Cleves MA, Melnyk S, et al. Congenital heart defects and abnormal maternal biomarkers of methionine and homocysteine metabolism. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2005;81:147–53.
 139. Hobbs CA, Malik S, Zhao W, et al. Maternal homocysteine and congenital heart defects. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2006;47:683–5.
 140. Kapusta L, Haagmans ML, Steegers EA, et al. Congenital heart defects and maternal derangement of homocysteine metabolism. *J Pediatr.* 1999;135:773–774.
 141. Verkleij-Hagoort AC, Verlinde M, Ursem NT, Lindemans J, Helbing WA, Ottenkamp J, et al. Maternal hyperhomocysteinaemia is a risk factor for congenital heart disease. *BJOG.* 2006 Dec;113(12):1412-8. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2006.01109.x.
 142. Smedts HP, de Vries JH, Rakhshandehroo M, Wildhagen MF, Verkleij-Hagoort AC, Steegers EA, Steegers-Theunissen RP. High maternal vitamin E intake by diet or supplements is associated with congenital heart defects in the offspring. *BJOG.* 2009 Feb;116(3):416-23. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2008.01957.x.
 143. Zhang S, Wang L, Yang T, Chen L, Zhao L, Wang T, Chen L, Ye Z, Zheng Z, Qin J. Parental alcohol consumption and the risk of congenital heart diseases in offspring: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Prev Cardiol.* 2020 Mar;27(4):410-421. doi: 10.1177/2047487319874530.
 144. Chen Z, Li S, Guo L, Peng X, Liu Y. Prenatal alcohol exposure induced congenital heart diseases: From bench to bedside. *Birth Defects Res.* 2021 Apr 15;113(7):521-534. doi: 10.1002/bdr2.1743.

145. Thomas Zegkos, Despoina Ntiloudi, Georgios Giannakoulas, Parental alcohol exposure and congenital heart diseases in offspring: A causal link with controversial evidence, *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology*, Volume 27, Issue 4, 1 March 2020, Pages 407–409, <https://doi.org/10.1177/2047487319877705>.
146. Anderson JL, Waller DK, Canfield MA, Shaw GM, Watkins ML, Werler MM. Maternal obesity, gestational diabetes, and central nervous system birth defects. *Epidemiology*. 2005 Jan;16(1):87-92.
147. Stothard KJ, Tennant PW, Bell R, Rankin J. Maternal overweight and obesity and the risk of congenital anomalies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA* 2009;356:636-50. 10.1001/jama.2009.113.
148. Brite J, Laughon SK, Troendle J, Mills J. Maternal overweight and obesity and risk of congenital heart defects in offspring. *Int J Obes (Lond)* 2014;356:878-82. 10.1038/ijo.2013.244.
149. Vézina- Im, L.- A., Nicklas, T. A., & Baranowski, T. (2018). Intergenerational effects of health issues among women of childbearing age: A review of the recent literature. *Current Nutrition Reports*, 7(4), 274–285. 10.1007/s13668-018-0246-x.)–R133.
150. Stout KK, Daniels CJ, Aboulhosn JA, et al. 2018 AHA/ACC Guideline for the Management of Adults with Congenital Heart Disease. *Circulation* 2019;139(14):e637–e697.
151. Venugopalan P, Akinbami FO, Al-Hinai KM, Agarwal AK. Malnutrition in children with congenital heart defects. *Saudi Med J*. 2001 Nov;22(11):964-7.
152. Vaidyanathan B, Radhakrishnan R, Sarala DA, Sundaram KR, Kumar RK. What determines nutritional recovery in malnourished children after correction of congenital heart defects? *Pediatrics*. 2009 Aug;124(2):e294-9. doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-0141.
153. Medoff-Cooper B, Ravishankar C. Nutrition and growth in congenital heart disease: a challenge in children. *Curr Opin Cardiol*. 2013 Mar;28(2):122-9. doi: 10.1097/HCO.0b013e32835dd005.
154. da Silva VM, de Oliveira Lopes MV, de Araujo TL. Growth and nutritional status of children with congenital heart disease. *J Cardiovasc Nurs*. 2007 Sep-Oct;22(5):390-6. doi: 10.1097/01.JCN.0000287028.87746.11.
155. Abad-Sinden A, Sutphen JL. Growth and nutrition. In: Allen HD, Gutgesell HP, Eclard EB, Clark EB, Driscoll DJ, editors. *Moss and Adams' Heart Disease in Infants and Adolescents*. 6th ed, Vol. 1. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2001. p. 325-32.
156. Khan IY, Dekou V, Douglas G, JensenR, Hanson MA, Poston L, Taylor PD(2005) A high-fat diet during rat pregnancy or suckling induces cardiovascular dysfunction in adult offspring. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr CompPhysiol* 288:R127.
157. Russo MJ, Hong KN, Davies RR, Chen JM, Mancini DM, et al. The effect of body mass index on survival following heart transplantation: do outcomes support consensus guidelines? *Ann Surg*. 2010 Jan;251(1):144-52. doi: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3181b5db3c.

158. Williams JJ, Lund LH, LaManca J, Kunavarapu C, Cohen DJ, Heshka S, Heymsfield SB, Mancini DM. Excessive weight gain in cardiac transplant recipients. *J Heart Lung Transplant*. 2006;25:36–41.
159. Depczynski B, Daly B, Campbell LV, et al. Predicting the occurrence of diabetes mellitus in recipients of heart transplants. *Diabet Med* 2000; 17: 15–19. DOI: 10.1046/j.1464-5491.2000.00206.x.
160. Subar AF, Kirkpatrick SI, Mittl B, Zimmerman TP, Thompson FE, et al. The Automated Self- Administered 24- hour dietary recall (ASA24): a resource for researchers, clinicians, and educators from the National Cancer Institute. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. 2012;112:1134–1137.
161. Patel J. Vitamin therapy after heart transplantation. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther*. 2015 Oct;13(10):1071-4. doi: 10.1586/14779072.2015.1086268.